UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-26-2009

Esquivel v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35792

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an order dismissing a second amended petition for post-conviction relief. Clerk's Record (CR) 95.

B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

Appellant Carlos Esquivel was found guilty following a jury trial of three counts of lewd conduct with a minor under age sixteen, I.C. § 18-1508, and one count of sexual abuse of a child under age sixteen, I.C. § 18-1506. Prior to sentencing, the district court ordered him to undergo a psychosexual evaluation, and the results of that evaluation were included in the presentence investigation report (PSI) and considered by the court at sentencing. Carlos was sentenced to concurrent unified terms of thirty years, with minimum periods of confinement of fifteen years for lewd conduct and a concurrent unified term of fifteen years with a minimum term of five years for sexual abuse. A subsequent Rule 35 motion was denied. And, in a direct appeal, the conviction, sentence, and denial of the Rule 35 motion were affirmed in an unpublished opinion. *Esquivel v. State*, Docket No. 32689 (Ct. App. August 3, 2007) Slip Op. p. 1-2.¹

Carlos then filed a *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief alleging several claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel and seeking appointment of counsel in post-conviction. The district court denied the motion for appointment of counsel, and Carlos filed an amended application, and again asked for counsel. Again, the district court denied counsel and ultimately dismissed the petition. *Id.* p. 2.

¹ This Court has taken judicial notice of the Clerk's Record and Reporter's Transcript filed in the prior appeal No. 32689. CR 3.

Carlos appealed, counsel was appointed, and the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion on August 3, 2008. The Court affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for further proceedings. In particular, the Court held that the district court did not err in denying counsel in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon counsel's failure to request that Carlos undergo a polygraph examination. However, the district court did err in denying counsel in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon the alleged failures of counsel in the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon the alleged failures of appointment of the psychosexual evaluation. Therefore, the case was remanded for appointment of counsel to assist in pursing this single potentially valid claim. *Id.* p. 7-8.

The Court of Appeals wrote:

Esquivel asserts the district court erred in denying his request for appointment of counsel to assist him in his post-conviction claim that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly challenge the psychosexual evaluation used against him after Esquivel requested trial counsel to do so. A psychosexual evaluation conducted for sentencing purposes is considered a critical stage of the defendant's case. *Estrada v. State*, 143 Idaho 558, 562, 149 P.3d 833, 837 (2006). Therefore, a defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to counsel's advice regarding his or her participation in an evaluation. *Id.* at 558-59, 149 P.3d at 837-38. Trial counsel's failure to properly advise a defendant regarding his or her Fifth Amendment rights in submitting to a psychosexual evaluation may amount to deficient performance. *See id.* at 564, 149 P.3d at 839. When there is a reasonable probability that the sentence would be different had the psychosexual evaluation not been included, or had been more favorable to the defendant, a trial counsel's deficient performance may also be prejudicial. *See [State v.] Wood*, 132 Idaho [88,] 101, 967 P.2d [702,] 715, *Estrada*, 143 Idaho at 565, 149 P.3d at 840.

Esquivel's application alleges facts indicating the possibility that his court-ordered psychosexual evaluation was inadequately conducted and that he voiced his concerns about the evaluation to his trial counsel. Esquivel's application, in essence, claims his trial counsel was deficient for failing to either question the conduct of the expert who performed the evaluation or request that a different expert conduct a new psychosexual evaluation. The record before this Court on appeal demonstrates that the results of Esquivel's psychosexual evaluation were considered by the district court in making its sentencing decision and was a factor contributing to the length of his sentence.

Esquivel v. State, Slip Op. at p. 6-7 (emphasis added).

The record before the Court of Appeals which supported its finding that the district court

considered the psychosexual evaluation in making its sentencing decision was set out in Carlos'

Opening Brief. Carlos wrote there:

... Prejudice in this case is clear because the psychosexual report was heavily relied upon by the State in recommending a lengthy prison sentence and by the District Court in determining the sentence and in denying the Rule 35 motion.

At sentencing, the State argued that the evaluation showed Mr. Esquivel needed to be punished severely. It stated:

[H]e continues to pose a more significant risk. He went to SANE and was evaluated, although he was not particularly forthcoming in the SANE evaluation. He refused to answer the MSI questions because he said he just didn't like the questions and thought that they were just, in his words, sick or perverted or something along those lines. He wouldn't appropriately answer the Millon and so that test couldn't be scored. Unfortunately the examination doesn't give the evaluation – doesn't give the Court as much information as you might have liked, but that is the defendant's doing and he chose not to be cooperative with that. It is interesting to note that Dr. Engle . . . immediately detects that [Mr. Esquivel] has an attitude of arrogance and an attitude that conveys clearly that he is a victim of the instant offense, the criminal justice system, and the evaluation process and that's reflected in Dr. Engle's evaluation of the defendant.

So looking at the risk, Judge, I think when Dr. Engle says he's at least a medium risk to reoffend, that's in the best light given that the defendant doesn't finish out on testing in this case. He's in total denial of what happened....

Given all that, Your Honor, the State in evaluating this case knows that this is a situation that calls out for a prison sentence. There are issues which involve punishment and retribution. There are concerns that the defendant is not a rehabilitation candidate at this time because he is in total denial[.]

T (30424) pg. 256, ln. 21- pg. 258, ln. 18.

The Court imposed the precise sentence recommended by the state and in doing so relied upon Dr. Engle's report.

So when I look at all these facts and I look at the fact that Mr. Esquivel was really not cooperative in that evaluation and I realize that there's an argument to be made that a person does this if they are innocent of the charge, but I was concerned when I saw that he didn't complete the part of the test and I don't buy the whole idea that he was uncomfortable with answering questions about his own sexual interests. He was aware that this was an important evaluation that the Court was going to take into consideration in deciding what to do. I'm concerned again with the guarded nature in which he answered some of the questions by the evaluator. True it is that - it's not to be unexpected that an individual will get an evaluation of a moderate level of risk because of denial, but the fact of the matter that the Court cannot ignore the fact that he was evaluated as having a moderate level of risk. Although today he's indicated that he's interested in having and attending the appropriate therapy, I want to note that it's easy to come into this Court and make those kinds of assertions, but all along in his comments to the evaluator he made it clear that he was not interested in having any sort of treatment.

Ť (30424) pg. 270, ln. 2-22.

Along these same lines, the Court relied upon Dr. Engle's evaluation in denying Mr. Esquivel's Rule 35 motion. It stated:

The S.A.N.E. evaluation stated Esquivel was a moderate risk to reoffend and the evaluator opined he was not amenable to treatment because in part he denied an offense occurred and was uninterested and unwilling to participate in sex offender treatment.

CR (30424) 121; Memorandum Decision (denying Rule 35 Motion), pg. 4.

Esquivel v. State, Docket No. 32689, Appellant's Opening Brief at pages 21-22.

On remand, the district court appointed counsel, who filed an amended post-conviction

petition alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. Specifically, the petition alleged that counsel

rendered deficient performance in failing to properly advise Carlos regarding his Fifth Amendment rights in submitting to a psychosexual evaluation. CR 25.

In response, the state filed a motion to dismiss supported by the affidavit of Carlos' trial counsel. In that affidavit, counsel stated that he "did not tell my client that he had a fifth amendment right not to participate in that psychosexual evaluation." CR 44.

Based upon this affidavit, no evidentiary hearing was held. However, briefing was submitted by both parties. CR 87.

Ultimately, the district court dismissed Carlos' petition. In its opinion, the district court found that Carlos had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that his attorney's advice, or lack thereof, in regard to the psychosexual evaluation was deficient. ". . . Esquivel has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that his attorney's advice, or lack of advice, was deficient." CR 88.

However, the district court then went on to find, contrary to the previous holding of the Court of Appeals, that it had not considered the psychosexual report in fashioning its sentence and therefore there was no prejudice. The district court wrote:

While the Court of Appeals suggests in its decision that the mention of the psychosexual evaluation implied that the Court relied on the report, that is not the case. This Court determined Esquivel's sentence based on the testimony he gave and the evidence produced at trial and not on the psychosexual evaluation. The psychosexual evaluation did not increase or reduce his sentence. Esquivel did not receive a different sentence, either enhanced <u>or</u> reduced, based on his refusal to cooperate in the psychosexual evaluation or because of its contents. <u>It was his failure to accept responsibility</u> that demonstrated rehabilitation was unlikely.

CR 92 (underscore original).

Finding no connection between the psychosexual evaluation and Carlos' sentence, the

district court held that Carlos had failed to meet the prejudice prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), and dismissed his petition. CR 81.

This appeal timely followed. CR 95.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the law of the case doctrine prohibit the district court from deciding in direct opposition to the Court of Appeals' holding that counsel's deficient performance was not prejudicial?

2. In the first alternative, given the record, did the district court err in determining that counsel's deficient performance was not prejudicial?

3. In the second alternative, should this case have been analyzed, not as an ineffective assistance of counsel case, but rather as a case involving a denial of the state and federal constitutional rights against compelled testimony, and under such analysis, is reversal required because the state cannot show beyond a reasonable doubt that denying Carlos his constitutional right to remain silent was harmless error?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Law of the Case Doctrine Prohibits the District Court from Finding in</u> <u>Opposition to the Court of Appeals a Failure to Demonstrate Prejudice.</u>

In dismissing Carlos' petition, the district court found that counsel had rendered deficient performance, but that the deficient performance was not prejudicial because the psychosexual evaluation did not affect the length of Carlos' sentence. However, this holding is directly contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeals in the appeal of the dismissal of Carlos' initial petition and is prohibited by the law of the case doctrine. Therefore, the order dismissing Carlos'

amended petition must now be reversed.

When the Court of Appeals determined that the district court had erred in denying counsel to assist Carlos in presenting the issue of whether he had been denied effective assistance of counsel in relation to counsel's actions/inactions regarding the psychosexual evaluation, the Court had to determine whether the post-conviction petition had alleged facts that might give rise to a valid claim. *Esquivel v. State*, Slip Op. at page 7, *citing Charboneau v. State*, 140 Idaho 789, 792-93, 102 P.3d 1108, 1111-12 (2004). In making that determination, the Court of Appeals was required to consider both whether Carlos had alleged facts pointing to deficient performance and whether he had alleged facts pointing to prejudice. *Esquivel v. State*, Slip Op. at pages 6-7.

In determining whether there were facts alleged to point to prejudice, the Court of Appeals wrote:

The record before this Court on Appeal demonstrates that the results of Esquivel's psychosexual evaluation were considered by the district court in making its sentencing decision and was a factor contributing to the length of his sentence.

Esquivel v. State, Slip Op. at page 7.

However, on remand, the district court held to the contrary, stating that it did not rely upon the psychosexual report in deciding what sentence to impose. CR 92.

This holding by the district court violates the law of the case doctrine.

"The 'law of the case' doctrine provides that when 'the Supreme Court, in deciding a case presented states in its opinion a principle or rule of law necessary to the decision, such pronouncement becomes the law of the case and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the trial court and upon subsequent appeal." *Taylor v. Maile*, ____ Idaho ____, ____P.3d ____, 2009 WL 213074 * 3 (2009), *citing Suitts v. First Sec. Bank of Idaho, N.A.*, 110 Idaho 15, 21, 713 P.2d 1374, 1380 (1985), quoting Fiscus v. Beartooth Elec. Coop., Inc., 180 Mont. 343, 345, 591 P.2d 196, 197 (1979).

Further, the law of the case doctrine applies to all appellate decisions, not just those of the Supreme Court. *Swanson v. Swanson*, 134 Idaho 512, 515, 5 P.3d 973, 976 (2000). "[A] decision by the appellate court upon a point distinctly made and essential to its determination upon a previous appeal is in all subsequent proceedings, in the same case, a final adjudication." *Brinton v. Johnson*, 41 Idaho 583, 592, 240 P. 859, 861 (1925).

Moreover, the law of the case doctrine applies to mixed questions of law and fact as well as questions of law. *See, Airstream, Inc. v. CIT Financial Services, Inc.*, 115 Idaho 569, 574-575, 768 P.2d 1302, 1307-1308 (1988) (applying the law of the case doctrine to the question of whether CIT was purchasing recreational vehicles from Airstream); *and Insurance Associates Corp. v. Hansen*, 116 Idaho 948, 950-51, 782 P.2d 1230, 1232-33 (1989) (applying the law of the case doctrine to a trial court's original findings of fact which were upheld by the Court of Appeals). "Accordingly, the facts having been decided, they are final, they have become the law of the case, and the Court of Appeals' pronouncement must be adhered to, both in the trial court and on subsequent appeal." *Id.* And, the question of whether prejudice has been established in a post-conviction claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact. *Young v. State*, 115 Idaho 52, 54, 764 P.2d 129, 131 (Ct. App. 1988).

In this case, the Court of Appeals held that the record established that the psychosexual evaluation did affect the length of the sentence imposed. Therefore, the district court could not revisit that question on remand and find no prejudice relative to counsel's deficient performance in not advising Carlos of his constitutional rights relative to the evaluation. *Taylor v. Maile*,

supra; Swanson v. Swanson, supra; Insurance Associates Corp. v. Hansen, supra; Young v. State, supra.

Having found deficient performance and by the doctrine of the law of the case being required to find prejudice, the district court erred in dismissing Carlos' petition. *Strickland v. Washington, supra.*

B. In the First Alternative, the District Court's Finding that it did not Rely upon the Psychosexual Evaluation in Sentencing Carlos is Clearly Erroneous.

As set out above, the law of the case doctrine requires that the district court decision dismissing Carlos' petition must be reversed. However, the district court decision must also be reversed because it is clearly erroneous.

On review of the dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court will not disturb the lower court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. I.R.C.P. 52(a); *Queen v. State*, 146 Idaho 502, 503, 198 P.3d 731, 732 (Ct. App. 2008). The appellate court exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts. *Queen v. State*, 146 Idaho at 504, 198 P.3d at 733.

In this case, the district court found that it did not consider the psychosexual evaluation in determining Carlos's sentence. However, because this finding was clearly erroneous, it must now be reversed. I.R.C.P. 52(a), *Queen v. State, supra.*

As set out in Carlos' Opening Brief in his initial appeal and as quoted above, both the state and the district court relied on the psychosexual evaluation in recommending and imposing a sentence. The state spoke of how Carlos had gone to SANE, but refused to answer MSI questions and complete the Millon, and how Dr. Engle found Carlos to be arrogant and at least a

medium risk to re-offend. T (30424) pg. 256, ln. 21 - pg. 258, ln. 18. And, the district court, imposing the precise sentence the state requested, based upon the psychosexual evaluation, also cited the evaluation as supportive of the sentence. T (30424) pg. 270, ln. 2-22. And, then in denying Carlos' Rule 35 motion, the district court again stated its reliance on the psychosexual evaluation. CR (30424) 121; Memorandum Decision (denying Rule 35 Motion), pg. 4.

Although the district court now states that it did not rely on the psychosexual report, but rather only mentioned the report in passing, that finding is contrary to the record. Because the finding was clearly erroneous, it must now be reversed. I.R.C.P. 52(a); *Queen v. State, supra.* And, when the finding that the district court did not rely on the evaluation in sentencing and in denying the Rule 35 motion is reversed, the order denying post-conviction relief must also be reversed. *Strickland v. Washington, supra.*

C. In the Second Alternative, Reversal is Required Because the State Did Not and Cannot Demonstrate Beyond a Reasonable Doubt that the Error in Denying Carlos his State and Federal Constitutional Rights to Remain Silent was Harmless.

The denial of Carlos' petition must be reversed first because it violates the law of the case doctrine and second because it rests upon a clearly erroneous factual finding by the district court. But, the denial must also be reversed because, in accord with *DeRushé v. State*, _____ Idaho ____, 200 P.3d 1148 (2009), the error in denying Carlos his right to remain silent must be analyzed under the constitutional error standard of *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 82 S. Ct. 824, *reh'g denied*, 386 U.S. 987, 87 S. Ct. 1283 (1967), a standard the state did not and cannot meet.

In *DeRushé*, the petitioner filed a *pro se* petition alleging that trial counsel had committed an error in depriving him of the right to testify in his own behalf. Analyzing this claim as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the district court rejected it, stating, "There is nothing that is in front of the court or in the record that [DeRushé's counsel's] decision not to put Mr.

DeRushé on breached that standard or breached the duty of counsel." DeRushé v. State, ____

Idaho at _____, 200 P.3d at 1152.

The Supreme Court held that the district court erred in making this analysis:

The district court erred in analyzing DeRushé's claim as alleging ineffective assistance of counsel rather than as alleging denial of his constitutional right to testify in his own behalf.

Id.

The difference between an analysis under the doctrine of ineffective assistance of counsel and an analysis under the doctrine of the denial of the right to testify is explained in *State v*. *Darbin*, 109 Idaho 516, 708 P.2d 921 (Ct. App. 1985):

... if the failure of a defendant to testify is considered only in the context of deprivation of a fundamental constitutional right, and not in the context of effective assistance of counsel, then the defendant has the burden only to show he was deprived of the right to testify. The burden then shifts to the state to demonstrate that the constitutional violation was harmless error, i.e., the state must convince the reviewing court beyond a reasonable doubt that the alleged error did not contribute to the defendant's conviction. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. [18] at 24, 82 S. Ct. [824] at 828 [*reh'g denied*, 386 U.S. 987, 87 S. Ct. 1283 (1967)].

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