## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-28-2009

## Esquivel v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35792

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

1

## The District Court Properly Determined That Esquivel Failed To Meet His Burden Of Establishing Prejudice

#### A. Introduction

Esquivel contends the district court's determination that Esquivel was not prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to advise him of his right to remain silent during his psychological evaluation was in error. Esquivel makes two arguments regarding this claim. First, Esquivel argues the Idaho Court of Appeals already ruled on the issue and, therefore, under the law of the case doctrine, the district court was precluded from concluding there was no prejudice. (Appellant's Brief, pp.6-9.) Second, Esquivel argues the district court's determination that there was no prejudice is clearly erroneous. (Appellant's Brief, pp.9-10.) Both claims fail.

Esquivel's argument that the law of the case doctrine applies fails because the Idaho Court of Appeals did not articulate a principle or rule of law that controls the present issue. Here, under the summary dismissal standard, it was Esquivel's burden to show that his sentence would have been different if he would have been advised of his rights prior to his completing the psychosexual evaluation. The court of appeals did not previously address whether Esquivel had met this burden.

Esquivel's argument that he established a claim of prejudice fails because the district court's determination that Esquivel failed to meet his burden of showing that his sentence would have been different had he been informed of his rights regarding the psychosexual evaluation was correct. Esquivel failed to present evidence creating a material issue of fact on whether he would have received a different sentence had he been advised of his rights prior to completing the psychosexual evaluation. The district court explicitly stated in its order summarily dismissing Esquivel's claim, that "[t]he psychosexual evaluation did not increase or reduce [Esquivel's] sentence." (#35792., p.92.) Accordingly, Esquivel's claims of error are without merit.

#### B. Standard Of Review

On appeal from summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Matthews v. State, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); Aeschliman v. State, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc., 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

# C. The Law Of The Case Doctrine Is Not Applicable Where The Idaho Court Of Appeals' Determination Was Made Pursuant To A Different Legal Standard Applied To A Different Legal Issue

Esquivel first argues that the district court's determination that there was no prejudice was in error because, he claims, the Idaho Court of Appeals already ruled on the matter. (Appellant's Brief, pp.6-9.) Esquivel claims that pursuant to the "law of the case" doctrine, the district court was required to find prejudice because of this Court's prior ruling that Esquivel raised "the possibility of a valid

claim." (Esquivel II, p.5.) Esquivel's argument lacks factual and legal merit. Esquivel mistakenly believes that by meeting the low burden for having counsel appointed, he has also met the higher and different burden necessary to avoid summarily dismissal.

The "law of the case" doctrine provides that when an appellate court, "in deciding a case presented, states in its opinion a principle or rule of law necessary to the decision, such pronouncement becomes the law of the case, and must be adhered to throughout its subsequent progress, both in the trial court and upon subsequent appeal." <u>Taylor v. Maile</u>, --- Idaho ---, ---, 201 P.3d 1282, 1286 (2009) (citing Suitts v. First Sec. Bank of Idaho, N.A., 110 Idaho 15, 21, 713 P.2d 1374, 1380 (1985)).

As a threshold matter, there is no "principle or rule of law" articulated by the Idaho Court of Appeals that is contrary to the district court's ruling that Esquivel had failed to meet his burden of showing, by competent evidence, that his attorney's claimed deficiency resulted in a different sentence. The issue and associated burden at play in the earlier proceeding was different than the issue and associated burden presented by Esquivel's second amended petition.

The issue before the Idaho Court of Appeals in Esquivel II was whether Esquivel was entitled to appointment of counsel. In order to prevail on this claim, Equivel was required to raise the mere possibility of a valid claim: "If an applicant alleges facts that raise the possibility of a valid claim, the district court should appoint counsel in order to give the applicant an opportunity to work with counsel and properly allege the necessary supporting facts." Charboneau v. State, 140

Idaho 789, 792, 102 P.3d 1108, 1111 (2004). The result of meeting this standard -- by alleging facts that raise the mere *possibility* of a valid claim -- is that counsel is appointed to help the petitioner meet the next, different standard required to be met to continue prosecuting his claim -- to submit verified facts within his personal knowledge and produce admissible evidence sufficient to establish a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claim. See Berg v. State, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998) ("A claim for post-conviction relief is subject to summary dismissal pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906 if the applicant "has not presented evidence making a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof.")

Furthermore, even where the applicant does submit competent evidence, a district court may also grant summary dismissal where post-conviction allegations are affirmatively disproved by the record. Cooper v. State, 96 Idaho 542, 545, 531 P.2d 1187, 1190 (1975); Small v. State, 132 Idaho 327, 333-34, 971 P.2d 1151, 1157-58 (Ct. App. 1998).

Thus, before the district court, where the present assertion is ineffective assistance of counsel and Esquivel's claim is that he was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to advise him of his right to remain silent during the psychosexual evaluation, Esquivel's burden is to demonstrate this prejudice by a preponderance of evidence with competent evidence. Because it is possible to assert facts that establish the *possibility* of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and still not establish that claim by preponderance of evidence and with competent evidence, the district court's ruling is not in contradiction with the

Idaho Court of Appeals' opinion. As such the "law of the case" doctrine is not applicable and Esquivel's claim fails.

## D. <u>The District Court's Determination That Esquivel Did Not Meet His Burden</u> Of Submitting Facts Supporting His Claim Is Correct

Esquivel also contends the district court erred in determining that Esquivel failed to establish a prima facie claim of prejudice from his counsel's claimed deficient performance. Idaho Code § 19-4906(c) authorizes a district court to summarily dismiss a post-conviction petition upon motion by a party if it appears there is "no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." In order to survive summary dismissal, a post-conviction petitioner must present evidence in support of his petition sufficient to make "a prima facie case as to each essential element of the claims upon which the applicant bears the burden of proof." Berg v. State, 131 Idaho 517, 518, 960 P.2d 738, 739 (1998).

In determining whether an applicant's claim for post-conviction relief is subject to summary dismissal, the court is not required to accept a petitioner's factual allegations under three circumstances. First, the court is not required to accept an applicant's mere conclusory allegations, unsupported by admissible evidence. Ferrier v. State, 135 Idaho 797, 799, 25 P.3d 110, 112 (2001); State v. Roman, 125 Idaho 646, 647, 873 P.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1994). To the contrary, it is always the applicant's burden to place in evidence the affidavits, records (including all relevant transcripts) or other evidence supporting his post-conviction claims. I.C. § 19-4903; Roman, 125 Idaho at 648, 873 P.2d at 902.

Second, allegations need not be accepted where they are affirmatively disproved by the record of the original criminal proceedings. Cooper v. State, 96 Idaho 542, 545, 531 P.2d 1187, 1190 (1975); Small v. State, 132 Idaho 327, 333-34, 971 P.2d 1151, 1157-58 (Ct. App. 1998). Thus, a district court properly dismisses a petition where at least one element the petitioner must establish is "clearly disproved" by the record of the underlying criminal case. Stuart v. State, 118 Idaho 865, 869, 801 P.2d 1216, 1220 (1990); Chouinard v. State, 127 Idaho 836, 839, 907 P.2d 813, 816 (Ct. App. 1995); Remington v. State, 127 Idaho 443, 446-47, 901 P.2d 134, 137-38 (Ct. App. 1995).

Finally, because the judge in a post-conviction proceeding "will be the trier of fact in the event of an evidentiary proceeding, summary disposition is possible, despite the possibility of conflicting inferences to be drawn from the facts, for the court alone will be responsible for resolving the conflict between those inferences." Hayes v. State, 146 Idaho 353, \_\_\_\_, 195 P.3d 712, 714 (Ct. App. 2008).

Application of these legal principles to this case shows that Esquivel has failed to show reversible error. As set forth above, the district court recognized that at sentencing it had mentioned that it had read the psychosexual evaluation in preparation for sentencing and that this was the factual basis that Esquivel was relying on to establish prejudice. (#35792 R., pp.92-93.) The district court explained that just because it reviewed the psychosexual report, "does not mean, however, [that] those items [in the report] become factors in the sentence." (#35792 R., p.92.) Indeed, the district court specifically stated that it "determined

Esquivel's sentence based on the testimony he gave and the evidence produced at trial and *not* on the psychological evaluation" (#35792 R., p.92 (emphasis added)), and that the psychosexual told the Court "nothing it did not already know" from the trial (#35792 R., p.77). Accordingly, the district court determined that Esquivel was not prejudiced by anything in the psychosexual evaluation and that his attorney's failure to inform him of his rights prior to completion of that evaluation did not constitute facts establishing a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficient performance the results of the sentencing hearing would have been different. (#35792 R., p.77.).

Esquivel has failed to show how this determination was in error. As explained by the district court, the fact that the district court mentioned having reviewed the psychosexual report is simply not a factual basis sufficient to meet his burden of establishing prejudice. As explained by the district court, the mere fact that a report is mentioned does not mean that the district court considered the report in determining the sentence. (#35792 R., p.92.) Courts review many documents, reports, and letters prior to sentencing and just because the court states that it has reviewed these items does not necessarily mean that the document report or letter influenced the final judgment of the court. Consequently, Esquivel has failed to meet his burden of establishing a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel because he has failed to allege facts that create an issue of fact on the question of prejudice. The fact that the state cited the report and that the court mentioned that it had reviewed it in preparation for the hearing does not create a genuine issue of material fact.

Additionally, the district court's ruling clearly explained that the court did not consider the information in the psychosexual report in sentencing him: "This Court determined Esquivel's sentence based on the testimony he gave and the evidence produced at trial and not on the psychological evaluation." (#35792 R., p.92.) Further, the court found that the psychosexual evaluation did not provide the Court with any information "it did not already know from the trial." (#35792 R., p.77.) Consequently, to the extent any inference of prejudice could be made from mention of the psychosexual evaluation by the district court or by the prosecutor, the district court itself "clearly disproved" that claim.

Moreover, regardless of the district court judge's affirmative statement that it did not consider the psychosexual evaluation, the district court judge would also have been the judge at an evidentiary hearing. Consequently, the judge was free to grant summary disposition "despite the possibility of conflicting inferences to be drawn from the facts," in this case the fact that the psychosexual evaluation was referenced by the court. See Hayes, 146 Idaho at \_\_\_\_, 195 P.3d at 714. Thus, even if there were conflicting inferences that could be drawn from the fact that trial court mentioned the psychosexual evaluation, it was entirely proper for the district court, the court that actually imposed the sentence as well as the court that would hold the evidentiary hearing, to resolve those inferences.

In sum, Esquivel's allegations that he was prejudiced by his attorney's failure inform him of his rights prior to the psychosexual evaluation fail because they do not show his sentence would have been any different. His claim that the district court considered the psychosexual evaluation and that consideration

prejudiced him, was affirmatively disproved by the underlying criminal record and was based on inferences properly rejected by the district court. Thus, the district court properly dismissed his petition.

11.

## Esquivel Failed To Preserve An Independent Constitutional Issue For Appeal And, Even If He Had, That Argument Lacks Basis In Law

#### A. Introduction

In addition to arguing the district court erred in summarily dismissing Esquivel's petition, Esquivel also asserts, for the first time on appeal, that his right to remain silent was violated: "[T]he denial must also be reversed because . . . . the error in denying Carlos [Esquivel] his right to remain silent must be analyzed under the constitutional error standard . . . ." (Appellant's Brief, p.10.) Esquivel argues that this was not an ineffective assistance of counsel claim but a constitutional violation that merely required him to show a deprivation of that right occurred, shifting the burden to the state to show harmless error. (Appellant's Brief, p.10.) This Court should decline to consider the merits of Esquivel's claim because, as a threshold matter, Esquivel never asserted his "right to remain silent" was violated below. Additionally, even if Esquivel had raised this issue below, Esquivel's allegations do not show his right to remain silent was violated and, even if it were, the deprivation was harmless.

#### B. <u>Esquivel Failed To Raise A Right To Remain Silent Claim Below And,</u> Therefore, Failed To Preserve The Issue For Appeal

It is a long-standing rule in Idaho that an appellate court will not consider issues, including constitutional issues, which are presented for the first time on

appeal. State v. Martin, 119 Idaho 577, 579, 808 P.2d 1322, 1324 (1991); State v. Mauro, 121 Idaho 178, 181, 824 P.2d 109, 112 (1991); Small v. State, 132 Idaho 327, 331, 971 P.2d 1151, 1155 (Ct. App. 1998); State v. Smith, 130 Idaho 450, 454, 942 P.2d 574, 578 (Ct. App. 1997). Failure to raise an issue in the district court, thereby denying the trial court the opportunity to rule on the alleged error, constitutes a waiver of those issues on appeal. Martin, 119 Idaho at 579, 808 P.2d at 1324; Mauro, 121 Idaho at 181, 824 P.2d at 112; Smith, 130 Idaho at 454, 942 P.2d at 578.

A review of the record shows Esquivel never claimed that his "right to silence" was violated. Esquivel's second amended petition specifically argued "ineffective assistance of counsel" claiming "that his trial counsel's failure to properly advise him regarding his Fifth Amendment Rights in submitting to a psychosexual evaluation amounted to deficient performance." (#35792 R., p.26.)

There was no "right to silence" claim or any independent constitutional violation asserted. Consequently, the district court never ruled on the matter and there was no factual development of this claim at the district court level. Having failed to even alert the district court to this claim, much less provide the district court the opportunity to address the alleged claim, Esquivel failed to preserve his claim of error for appellate review.

## C. Even If Esquivel Had Preserved A Separate Constitutional Claim, The Claim Has No Basis In Law And To The Extent That It Has A Basis, The Claimed Error Was Harmless

Even if Esquivel preserved this argument it is an argument without basis in law. In support of his claim that his attorney's failure to advise him is not a

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